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STATE OF CONNECTICUT
LABORDEPARTMENT

CONNECTICU'I'STATEBOARDOF  LABORRELATIONS

In the matter of

LOCAL 1303-81 OF COUNCIL 4
AFsQlrzE,AFL<IO

-and-

REGION 10 BOARD OF EDUCATION

Case No. MEPP-10,112

Decision No. 2748

July 19, 1989

A P P E A R A N C E S :

J. William Gagne, Jr. & Associates
By: Barbara J. Collins, Atty.
for the Union

Sullivan, Lettick  & Schoen
By: William R. Connon,  Esq.
for the School Board

DECISION and ORDER

On August 21, 1986, the Region 10 Board of Education (School Board)
filed with the Connecticut State Board of Labor Relations (Labor Board) a
complaint alleging that Local 1303-81 of Council 4, AFSCME,  AFL-CIO (Union)
had engaged and was engaging in practices prohibited by the Municipal
Employee Relations Act (Act) as 'follows:

The Respondent, exclusive bargaining agent for the custodians'
bargaining unit, particularly its agent Nicholas D'Andrea,  has
refused to bargain collectively in good faith and has acted in
violation of Connecticut General Statutes Section 7-470(b), more
particularly:

1.

2.

3.

On April 22, 1986 the Respondent made a demand for nege
tiations concerning an initial contract of employment;

It had long been established in Region 10 that during the
summer the Complainant entered into JTPA Worksite  Agree-
ments for the performance of certain building maintenance
and outdoor landscaping and maintenance services;

The Respondent unilaterally altered this long established
condition of employment in Region 10 when it refused
during May and June of 1986 to authorize the Complainant
to enter into the JTPA Worksite  Agreements to perform the



4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

9.

same building  maintenance and outdoor  landscaping  and
maintenance  work  which had historically  been  performed  in
Region  10 during  the summer;

The Respondent's  representative,  Mr. D'Andrea,  verbally
indicated  to the Complainant's  negotiator  on several
occasions  that he would  not execute  the authorization
portion  of the JTPA Agreements  on behalf  of the Custo-
dian's  union  unless  the Board  of Education  negotiating
team  first  agreed  to certain  ground  rule  proposals  which
Mr. D'Andrea  had verbally  communicated  to the Board's
negotiator;

Mr. D'Andrea  also  indicated  that approval  of the JTPA
Agreements  would  be withheld  unless  the Board  of
Education  first  entered  into a separate  contract  with
Council  4, AFSCME,  AFL-CIO to abide  by a policy of
Council  4 concerning  JTPA Worksite  Agreements.  Mr.
D'Andrea  never  provided  a copy  of the contract  or the
policy.

After  threatening  to withhold  approval  unless  the Board
agreed  to the Respondent's  demands,  the Respondent  then
withheld  its approval  and knowingly  forced  the Board  to
lose the benefit  of the Agreements  which  had to be
executed  by July 1, 1986;

At no time did the Respondent  object  to the Agreements
for any reason  other  than the Board's  refusal  to accept
its ground  rules  proposals;

The benefit  of the Agreements  was lost solely  because  Mr.
D'Andrea  refused,  in bad faith, to execute  the Respondent
union's  portion  of the Agreements  contained  on page  four
of the Agreements;

The Board  of Education  has suffered  loss of the J!JPA
Agreements  for the summer  of 1986, a benefit  to the
school  district  valued  in excess  of $17,000.

On August  11, 1987, and August  11, 1988, the School  Board  amended  the
complaint  alleging  that the Union's  refusal  to execute  the JTPA Agreements
for the suamer  of 1987 and 1988 constituted  a refusal  to bargain  in
violation  of the Act.

After  the requisite  preliminary  administrative  steps  had been  taken,
the matter  came  before  the Labor  Board  for hearings  on October  25, 1988 and
November  15, 1988, at which  time the parties  appeared  and were  represented
by counsel. Full  opportunity  was given  to adduce  evidence,  examine  and
cross-examine  witnesses,  and make  argument. Roth  parties  filed  post-hearing
briefs.

on the whole  record  before  us we make  the following  findings  of fact,
conclusions  of law, and order.
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Findings of Fact

1. The School Board is a municipal employer within the meaning of the
Act.

2. The Union is a labor organization within the meaning of the Act and
was certified as the exclusive bargaining representative of the School
Board's maintenance and custodial workers on April 7, 1986. On April 22,
1986 it made a demand for negotiations concerning an initial contract of
employment.

3. Cn May 22, 1986 the parties exchanged proposals on ground rules
pertaining to the negotiations of the new agreement. One of the Union's
proposals was the following: "(1) The Union proposes that all Union
Negotiating Committee members be paid for all negotiating sessions and that
such time lost from their respective job assignments be scheduled for other
bargaining unit members on an overtime basis."

4. The School Board, since at least 1980, has been a participant as a
worksite  agency in a federally funded-summer job training program for
disadvantaged youth administered by the United States Department of Labor.

This program, now known asthe Job Training Partnership Act (JTPA), was
originally known as the Comprehensive Employment & Training Act (CETA).
Regulations describing the purpose of the summer  youth program are found in
20 CFR 630.2 and are outlined below:

(a) The purposes of Title II-B summer programs are to:

(1) Enhance the basic educational skills of eligible. youth;

(2) Encourage school competition, or enrollement in
supplementary or alternative.school  programs; and

(3) Provide eligible youth with exposure to the world of work.

5. The Job Training Partnership Act summer youth program is adminis-
tered locally by RESCUE, a non profit social service agency, funded by the
State Department of Labor. The program pays economically disadvantaged
youth between the ages of 14 and 21 to perform a variety of job duties at
public work sites. It also provides these youngsters with a training
component. In addition, the program also provides funding for the hiring of
personnel to supervise the youngsters in the program.

6. As part of its summer youth program, RESCUE requires a written
agreement to be executed by each worksite  agency detailing the rules and
regulations of the JTPA program. These rules include, inter alia, that the
JTPA workers only be in addition to employment which WGtEise  be
available, that they not result in the displacement of currently employed
workers, including partial displacement of hours or benefits, and that they
not impair existing contracts for services. In addition, the employer has
to sign an "Attachment for Union Affiliated Worksites" which states, in
part, that "The placement of JTPA participants in bargaining unit positions
will not prejudice any past, present or future agreements concerning the
bargaining unit."
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7. In addition, each Worksite Agreement contains a provision to be
executed by the labor organization if one represents a bargaining unit at
the worksite  location as follows:

“I, 8 as authorized representative of
, have

reviewed this contract with respect to wage rates, benefits
and occupations planned, on behalf of said labor organiza-
tion and concur with the positions listed which are within
the jurisdiction of this collective bargaining unit.

8. The requirement for Union sign off on the Worksite Agreement is not
required by JTPA regulations but appears to be a practice carried over from
the CEIA program. Ch July 1, 1986, the School  Board submitted Board-
executed Worksite  Agreements to the Union for sign off regarding summer

I have also been consulted with respect to job descriptions
and training arrangements."

maintenance aid mrk to be performed at a number of locations within the
School District.

9. The deadline for entering into the agreements in 1986 was on or
about July 7. The work would have run through August 22, 1986. The 1987
and 1988 agreements essentially covered the same period of time.

10. In 1986 the Union refused to execute the Worksites  Agreements
contending that the School Board had to negotiate these agreements with the
Union.

11. Attorney Connon,  spokesperson for the School Board, testified that
Mr. D'Andrea,  spokesperson for the Union, stated to him during negotiations
in 1986 that his Union would agree to sign the JTPA  agreements only if the
School Board  agreed to the Union's ground rules proposal.

12. In 1987 the School Board again forwarded the JTPA Worksite
Agreement to the Union for signature. On June 16 the Union notified the
School Board by letter that it would not concur with the JTPA Worksite
Agreement.

13. In 1988 when asked to sign the JTPA agreements, the Union did not
respond directly to the School Board. Rather, it indicated through
conversations with Labor Board Assistant Agent Manfred  Muenz that it would
not sign off the JTPA Agreements because it was concerned about unfilled
vacancies in the bargaining unit.

14. As of the conclusion of this hearing, the parties had not reached
an agreement and were in the midst of impact resolution procedures.
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Conclusions of Law

1. The Union refused to bargain in good faith in negotiating with the
School Board when they conditioned the signing of the JTPA Wrksite Agree-
ment upon the School Doard's  acceptance of the Union's ground rule proposal
during the spring of 1986 and thereby violated Sections 7-470(b)(2), 7-469
and 7-470(c)  of the Act.

2. Under the facts of this case there is no basis for awarding
compensatory damages or costs and attorney's fees.

Discussion

The duty to bargain in good faith is a mutual duty imposed by the Act
upon both municipal employers and unions. In this case, the relevant
provision of the statute is Section 7-470(b) (2) which makes it a prohibited
practice for a union to refuse " . ..to bargain collectively in gocd  faith
with a municipal employer..." The duty to bargain is defined in Section
7-470(c) of the Act as follows:

Sec. 7-470 (c) For the purposes of said sections, to bargain
collectively is the performance of the mutual obligation of the
municipal employer or his designated representatives and the
representative of the employees to meet at reasonable times,
including meetings appropriately related to the budget-making
process, and confer in good faith with respect to wages, hours
and other conditions of employment, or the negotiation of an
agreement, or any question arising thereunder, and the execution
of a written contract incorporating any agreement reached if
requested by either party, but such obligation shall not compel
either party to agree to a proposal or require the making of a
concession.

These provisions , when read together, establish the obligation of the
employer and the representative of its employees to bargain with each other
in good faith with respect to wages, hours and conditions of employment.
City of Milford, Decision No. 2465 (1986). "The duty is limited to
mandatory subjects, and within that area neither party is legally obligated
to yield." Labor Board  v. American National Insurance Co., 345 U.S. 395,
404 (1952). As to other matters, however, each party is free to bargain or
not to bargain, and to agree or not to agree. NLRB  v. Wooster Division of
Borg-Warner, 356 U.S. 342, 42 LRRM 2034 (1958). Moreover, a party may not
as a condition precedent to entering into a collective bargaining agreement
adamantly insist upon a clause which constitutes a permissive subject
because such condition is in substance a refusal to bargain about the
subjects that are within the scope of mandatory bargaining. Borg-Warner
Corp., 113 M;RB 1288, 1298, 36 LRRM 1439 (1958).

The Union recognizes this long-established principle, but it argues
that the JTPA program is a non-mandatory subject of bargaining and therefore
under the Borq-Warner  test it can refuse to bargain for any reason or for no
reason. Therefore, its refusal to sign the Wrksite Agreement (a non-
mandatory subject of bargaining) cannot be held to be a violation of the
duty to bargain in good faith.
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We agree that the Union's contention that the JTTA agreement is a non-
mandatory subject of bargaining; however, the union's analysis omits one
crucial fact. In this case, the School Board  was not conditioning entering
into a collective bargaining agreement upon the inclusion of a permissive
subject into the agreement. In fact, they correctly recognized that they
were under no duty to bargain with the Union concerning the JTPA agreement.
Rather, it was the Union, during the 1986 negotiations, who was refusing to
sign the JTPA agreement unless the School Board accepted the Union's ground
rule proposal. Put another way, the union was attempting to tie negotia-
tions of a ground rule agreement to the JTJ?A Worksite  Agreement, a process
totally independent from collective bargaining. We believe that the Union's
insistence that the School Board concede to its ground rule proposal in
exchange for its signature on the worksite  agreement violates the duty to
bargain.*

Finally, the employer urges us to award compensatory damages in this
case to pay for loss of services it suffered from the lack of summer workers
at the schools. It also asks for reasonable attorney's fees and costs in
connection with presenting this prohibited practice case. We decline to do
so. In the first place, the JT!?A program is not designed to benefit public
employers. Rather, it was designed to enhance the basic educational skills
of disadvantaged youth and to provide them exposure to the world of work.
The School Board does not pay youth for its participation nor does it
receive any monies from RESCUE. Whatever benefit the School Board receives
from being a participating worksite  is both indirect and peripheral to the
JTPA goals and objectives. Moreover, there is no evidence that the Union
acted in bad faith. Rather, the evidence suggests that the Union acted on
the mistaken belief that it was within its legal rights to deny its approval
of the Worksite  Agreement. Certainly if the Union, in light of this
decision, persists in the future in trying to extract bargaining concessions
in return for its signature on JTPA Worksite  Agreements, we may well find
such behavior to warrant compensatory damages, but under these facts we do
not find that the policies of the Act require an award of compensatory
damages. In regard to the School Board's request for attorney's fees and
costs, we have only awarded such costs in a very limited number of cases
where the respondent's defenses are wholly frivolous and present no
reasonably debatable issues. Killingly Board of Education, Decision No.
2118 (1982). The Union's defenses in this case do not rise to such a level.

* In regard to the 1987 and 1988 summer program, there is no evidence that
the Union conditioned the signing of the JTPA Worksite  Agreement to the
School Board's agreeing to a particular ground rule or contract provision.
In fact, the parties agreed to ground rules in September of 1986, and were
involved in mediation in the Spring of 1987.
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O R D E R

By virtue of and pursuant to the powers vested in the Connecticut State
Board of Labor Relations by the Municipal Employee Relations Act, it is
hereby

ORDERED, that the Union, Council #4, AFSCME, AFL-CIO, shall

I. Cease and desist from refusing to condition the signing of JTFA
summer Worksite  Agreements upon and until an agreement is reached on
subjects at issue in negotiation.

II. Take the following affirmative action which the Labor Board finds
will effectuate the purposes of the Act:

(a) Post immediately and leave posted for a period of sixty (60)
consecutive days from the date of posting, in a conspicuous
place where the employees involved customarily assemble, a
copy of this Decision and Order in its entirety; and

(b) Report to the Connecticut State Board of Labor Relations at
its offices in the Labor Department, 200 Folly Brook
Boulevard, Wethersfield, Connecticut, within thirty (30)
days of the receipt of this Decision and Order of the steps
taken by Council #4, AFSCME, AFL-CIO to comply therewith.

CONNECTICUT STATE BOARD OF LABOR RELATIONS

BY s/ Patricia V. Low
Patricia V. Low, Chairman

s/ Craig Shea
Craig Shea

s/ Susan R. Meredith
Susan R. Meredith
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